

APPLICATION NOTE

Testing frequency relays with SVERKER 900 considering the IEC 60255-181 standard



Authors:

Andrea Bonetti; Megger Sweden AB Lennart Schottenius; Megger Sweden AB Stefan Larsson; Megger Sweden AB

Date: July 2020

Version: First edition

 Megger Sweden AB, Danderyd, Sweden

 T +46 8 510 195 00 E seinfo@megger.com

 Www.megger.com

 Technical support support.sweden@megger.com

 ZR-CR14E • Doc. CR036124AE V01 • 2020

Megger.

Contents

| 1. 2 | Intro | duction to this application note. | 4 |
|----------|-------------|---|-------|
| 2. 2 | Intro | duction to the IEC 60255-181 standard | / |
| ป. 31 | | Standardized waveform for frequency changes | 4 |
| 3.2 |) | SVERKER 900 and the standardized waveform | 5 |
| 3.3 | 3. | Start time (pick-up time) for frequency relays | 7 |
| 0.0 | ,. 3.3.1 | "Frequency ramp" tests to assess the start time | 7 |
| ġ | 3.3.2. | "Frequency jump" tests to assess the start time | 9 |
| 2 | 3.3.3. | Operate time (trip time) for frequency relays | 10 |
| 4. | Test | ing ABB RET670 with SVERKER 900 | .11 |
| 4.1 | | | |
| 4.2 | | About the overfrequency relay under test: ABB RET670. | |
| | 4.2.1. | Relay settings | |
| 4 | 4.2.2. | Relay accuracy for frequency measurement. | 12 |
| 4 | 4.2.3. | Relay operate time: "Type 1" or "Type 2"? | 12 |
| 4 | 4.2.4. | Relay start time | 12 |
| 4.3 | 3. | Connecting SVERKER 900 to the ABB RET670. | 12 |
| 4.4 | l. | Testing the START level of overfrequency relay. | 13 |
| 4 | 4.4.1. | Conclusions for the start level | 15 |
| 4.5 | 5. | Testing the start time of overfrequency relay with standardized frequency ramp | 16 |
| 2 | 4.5.1. | Introduction. | 16 |
| 4 | 4.5.2. | Pre-fault values | 16 |
| 4 | 4.5.3. | Setup the frequency ramp of 0.5 Hz/s. | 16 |
| 4 | 4.5.4. | Setup the final point of the frequency ramp. | 17 |
| 4 | 4.5.5. | Run the ramp and measure the start time from SVERKER 900. | 17 |
| 4 | 4.5.6. | Testing the start time of overfrequency for the other 3 frequency ramps | 19 |
| 4 | 4.5.7. | Summary of relay start time for all 4 frequency ramps | 20 |
| 4 | 4.5.8. | Conclusions for start time with standard frequency ramps | 20 |
| 4.6 | S. | Testing the start time of overfrequency relay with standardized "frequency iump" | 21 |
| 2 | 4.6.1. | Introduction | 21 |
| 4 | 4.6.2. | Pre-fault values | 21 |
| 4 | 4.6.3. | Fault values | 22 |
| 4 | 4.6.4. | Run the test and measure the start time from SVERKER 900 | 22 |
| 2 | 4.6.5. | Testing the start time of overfrequency for the other 3 frequency jumps | 24 |
| 4 | 4.6.6. | Summary of relay start time for all 4 frequency jumps. | 24 |
| 2 | 4.6.7. | Conclusions for start time with standard frequency jumps | 25 |
| 4.7 | 7. | Testing the operate time of the overfrequency relay | 25 |
| 4 | 4.7.1. | Introduction | 25 |
| 4 | 4.7.2. | Connections | 25 |
| 4 | 4.7.3. | Setting pre-fault and fault values | 26 |
| 2 | 4.7.4. | Test execution and results | 27 |
| 4 | 4.7.5. | Conclusions for delay operate time | 27 |
| 4.8 | 3. | Conclusions for RET670 relay. | 28 |
| 2 | 4.8.1. | Explanations from Hitachi ABB Power Grids | 28 |
| 5. | Sim | plified testing of RET670 with SVERKER 900 | .29 |
| 5.1 | r | Introduction | 29 |
| 5.2 | 2. | About the overfrequency relay under test: ABB RET670 | 29 |
| 5.3 | 3. | Connecting SVERKER 900 to the ABB RET670. | 29 |
| 5.4 | I . | Testing the Start level of overfrequency relay | 30 |
| 5 | 5.4.1. | Conclusions for start level | 32 |
| 5.5 | 5. | Testing the operate time of overfrequency relay with standardized frequency ramp. | 33 |
| 5 | 5.5.1. | Introduction. | 33 |
| 5 | 5.5.2. | Pre-fault values | 33 |
| 5 | 5.5.3. | Setup the frequency ramp of 1,0 Hz/s. | 33 |
| 5 | 5.5.4. | Setup the final point of the frequency ramp. | 34 |
| 5 | 5.5.5. | Run the test and measure the operate (trip) time from SVERKER 900 | 34 |
| 5 | 5.5.6. | Conclusions for operate time with standardized frequency ramps | 36 |
| 5.6 | 6. | Testing the operate time of overfrequency relay with "frequency jump" | 37 |
| 5 | 5.6.1. | Introduction | 37 |
| 5 | 5.6.2. | Pre-fault values | 37 |
| 5 | 5.6.3. | Fault values | 37 |
| 5 | 5.6.4. | Run the test and measure the operate time from SVERKER 900 | 37 |
| F | 565 | Conclusions for operate time with frequency jumps | 38 |

Megger.

| 5.7. | Conclusions for simplified tests RET670. | |
|----------|---|----|
| 5.7.1. | Explanations from Hitachi ABB Power Grids | |
| 6. Con | clusions | 40 |
| 6.1. | Two test approaches: one "conservative", one "simplified" | 40 |
| 6.2. | One shot is not enough | 40 |
| 6.3. | I have always tested with the "frequency jump". What should I do now? | 40 |
| 6.4. | About "smart grid applications | 41 |
| 7. Ackr | nowledgments | 41 |
| 7.1. | IEC | 41 |
| 7.2. | Former ABB (Hitachi ABB Power Grids from 2020-07-01) | 41 |
| 8. Abo | ut the authors | 42 |
| 8.1. | Andrea Bonetti | 42 |
| 8.2. | Lennart Schottenius | 42 |
| 8.3. | Stefan Larsson | 42 |
| 9. Revi | isions | 42 |
| 9.1. | Revision 1 | 42 |
| 10. Refe | erences | 43 |



1. Introduction to this application note.

This application note is more than a description of how to use SVERKER 900 for testing frequency relays. It also wants to spread the knowledge about IEC standardization in relay protection. Many engineers often associate the IEC series of protection standards IEC 60255-1xx¹ to relay type testing, and believe that they do not need to have competence about this series of standards. This is a misunderstanding: many of the concepts, definitions and test procedures described in the standards are there to be used in relay technique, no matter if the role is relay manufacturer, user, or commissioning / maintenance testing engineer ([2], [3]). Megger invests many resources in standardisation activities, with active participation to the IEC committees that produce the standards (TC 95/MT 4 and also TC 95/WG 2) and by performing several trainings and webinars about the standardization concepts. Of course, at the end there is an impact of the standardization on the test devices that Megger produces. SVERKER 900 is one example. Definitely and hopefully, many others will follow in the near future.

This application note wants to guide through the most important concepts described by the standard, how to use them for testing frequency protection relays, using the relay test equipment SVERKER 900.

The frequency relay used for this application note has not been tested by the manufacturer in accordance with the new standard IEC 60255-181, as it was manufactured before the standard was published. The relay manufacturer (ABB from Sweden, par.7.2) has kindly commented this application note and their contribution is included in this document.

This application note will be soon updated with the test for another relay, of "Type 2", from another manufacturer, as RET670 relay is a relay of "Type 1" (see par.4.2.3).

A new application note will be released, as soon relays tested in accordance with IEC 60255-181 will be available.

2. The protection of the smart grid needs standards.

The IEC Technical Committee 95, Maintenance Team 4, (IEC TC 95/MT 4) "Measuring relays and protection equipment - Functional standards", is responsible for producing and maintaining the functional standards related to relay protections.

In February 2019, the new IEC Standard for Frequency and ROCOF² protection functions was approved. Smart Grid requirements in the field of competence of TC 95 have been the fundamental motivations for the creation of this completely new standard for frequency related protection functions.

The IEC 60255-181 standard was approved without any negative vote and it has been recently (autumn 2019) ratified as European standard EN IEC 60255-181, to be used without modifications in 34 countries in Europe.

3. Introduction to the IEC 60255-181 standard.

The Scope of the IEC 60255-181:2019 [4] standard covers underfrequency, overfrequency and ROCOF (Rate of Change of Frequency) protection functions, as indicated in Figure 1:

| | IEEE/ANSI C37.2 function numbers | IEC 61850-7-4 logical nodes |
|--|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Underfrequency protection | 81U | PTUF |
| Overfrequency protection | 810 | PTOF |
| Rate of change of frequency protection (ROCOF) | 81R | PFRC |

Figure 1. Protection functions in the scope of IEC 60255-181 From IEC 60255-181:2019 ed.1.0 - "Copyright © 201x IEC Geneva, Switzerland. <u>www.iec.ch</u>"

¹ IEC 60255-1xx is the series of functional standards for relay protections.[1], [2]

² ROCOF: According to IEC 60255-181:2019: Rate Of Change Of Frequency



As these functions are commonly implemented in one or more protection relays, it is expected the standard to cover the protection functions when they are hosted in the "traditional" protection relay. The standard also applies to such functions when they are embedded in different devices forming the smart grid, as such as the inverters powering the grid from distributed generators or trip units in low voltage circuit breakers [4], [5]. Customers and users should expect to receive a type test report and performances declaration from the manufacturer of these functions according to the IEC 60255-181 for those implementations "hidden" in devices that are not commonly considered protection relays, but that do perform a relay protection task and operate a circuit breaker (electromechanical or static).

One of the most important aspects of IEC 60255-181 is the standardization of realistic conditions to be applied to the protection function when assessing many performances related to dynamic behaviour of the power system. The use of a standardized formula to represent this dynamic behaviour wants to minimize important misunderstandings³ related to the start time and/or operate time of the protection relay, two important concepts detailed very much in the standard, that can be very much affected by the different algorithms implemented to "measure the frequency"[7].

The IEC 60255-181 details about minimum requirements for protection relay type testing; so it is not directly a standard for maintenance/commissioning applications. However, it is important to understand definitions contained therein when performing commissioning and maintenance tests. This will bring to smoother testing, easier reporting and less misunderstandings between the parts involved in the testing⁴.

The IEC 60255-181 standard contains many more definitions and tests than what presented in this document; for example there are tests defined for the protection stability in case of sudden voltage change (vector shift/phase shift and magnitude change). Also, the standard refers to frequency related functions. ROCOF, Rate Of Change Of Frequency, is included; so there are definitions and tests for that protection function as well [8], [9].

3.1. Standardized waveform for frequency changes

The way the frequency varies in what is generally called "frequency ramp" is defined in IEC 60255-181 by one exact formula. The formula corresponds to the analytical integration of the differential equation ([10],[11]) describing the voltage waveforms induced by a rotating generator that accelerates (or decelerates) with a constant net torque, i.e. with constant angular acceleration.

Considering a voltage waveform v(t) with frequency $f(t) = f'_0 * t$, amplitude V_{RMS} * SQRT(2) and phase angle ϕ_0 , its exact representation in the time domain is:

$$v(t) = \sqrt{2 \cdot V_{RMS}} \cdot \sin(2\pi f_0 + \pi f_0' \cdot t^2 + \varphi_0)$$

This is the formula of the waveform that shall be generated by the relay test set when testing the frequency protection function. The formula is in fact described in the normative (mandatory) Annex A of IEC 60255-181:2019.

Figure 2 show a graph of it, where also the linear and continuous behaviour of the frequency as function of time is shown in red colour; the waveform shown in the figure can be defined as a stepless (continuous) frequency ramp. At any time instant, the frequency has a different value.

³ The relay community has unfortunately experienced situations where frequency relays from different manufacturers, connected to the same busbar voltage and with the same settings (overfrequency or underfrequency thresholds) behaved very differently from each other's: some relays did not start at all for the event, some others started but tripped much faster than requested, some others started and tripped much slower than requested [6]

⁴ This is a very old dilemma. Protection relay data sheets contain data (accuracy, typical operate time etc.) that

are an extract of the results from the type tests. The type tests are performed according to IEC 60255-1xx definitions. If the commissioning engineers do not speak the same language of the relay manufacturers (which means for example to use the common definition of accuracy and use very similar test methods to assess it) there will be many misunderstandings at commissioning/maintenance that require many discussions to be clarified. The project will be delayed and will be more expensive than what was necessary. A common technical understanding mitigates these issues.



Figure 2. Graphical representation of the standardized "frequency ramp". The frequency changes at any time instant (stepless frequency change). The blue line represents the voltage and the red line represents the frequency

No other methods to "reconstruct" or "simulate" the standardized waveform are allowed.

For example, some methods used in the past have tried to simulate the frequency ramp by changing the frequency of the signal at each period. This is a discontinuous change of the frequency (not stepless), and it is not allowed for having the same test method for all the frequency relays. Figure 3 shows an example of what is not allowed to do:



Figure 3. Graphical representation of a non-stepless "frequency ramp". The frequency of the signal remains constant for some defined intervals, and suddenly changes to another value, for another interval of time.

3.2. SVERKER 900 and the standardized waveform

SVERKER 900 is designed [8] to produce the required waveform by IEC 60255-181 standard⁵. In this application note, we will make use of this capability. Do not underestimate this capability of SVERKER 900. The generation of such frequency ramp puts high requirements on the real time capabilities of the test set and on its computing capacity (Figure 4).

⁵ From software release version 2.12, November 2018 (2.12.6896.14415). Contact Megger if you have an older software release to see if it is possible to perform the upgrade.

Megger.



Figure 4. The SVERKER 900 is able to generate the standardized frequency ramp. Check ⁵ that you have the correct software version.

3.3. Start time (pick-up time) for frequency relays

The following paragraphs describe the standardized methods for assessing and describing the start time (pick-up time⁶) of the frequency relays. This application note will make use of the standardized concepts, interpreted for commissioning/maintenance relay testing.

3.3.1. "Frequency ramp" tests to assess the start time

According to IEC 60255-181, the start time (pick-up time) of the frequency protection function (over- and/or underfrequency) is described with a graph, representing the behaviour of the protection relay when subjected to a set of different frequency variations (Hz/s).

Figure 5 shows one example for a frequency variation of 0.5 Hz/s from the steady value of 50 Hz, nominal frequency⁷. The voltage waveform is:

$$v(t) = \sqrt{2 \cdot V_{RMS}} \cdot \sin(2\pi \cdot 50 + \pi \cdot 0.5 \cdot t^2 + \varphi_0)$$

The standardized waveform is injected and the time is measured from when the waveform has the frequency equal to the set value of the protection relay (f>set in Figure 5). The timer is stopped when the relay reaction is received by the test set (start contact of the relay activated).



Figure 5. Example for the measurement of the start time of an overfrequency relay, according to IEC 60255-181, with use of one standardized "frequency ramp" of 0,5 Hz/s.

The start time is then measured for different dynamic conditions. The Figure 6 shows the same test for a frequency ramp of 2 Hz/s, for the same overfrequency relay:

⁶ Note that in IEC world it is usually used the name "start" (start time, start contact etc.), while in the ANSI/IEEE world it is often used the name "pick-up" (pick-up time, pick-up contact etc). At the same time, for tripping, the IEC world should use the name "operate" (operate time, operate contact) while the ANSI/IEEE world uses the name "trip" (trip time, trip contact).

⁷ This is in practice a test with a frequency ramp of 0,5 Hz/s, starting from 50 Hz (f_{nom} in Figure 5).



Figure 6. Example for the measurement of the start time of an overfrequency relay, according to IEC 60255-181, with use of another standardized "frequency ramp" of 2,0 Hz/s.

Megger.

Each test is repeated for a standardized number of times (i.e. equal for each protection manufacturer) and then the results are shown in standardized table formats and standardized graphs, shown in Figure 7; please note that all quantities are just examples:



Figure 7. Example of diagram representing the start time of an overfrequency relay measured at the mandatory frequency ramps of 0,5; 1,0; 2,0 and 5,0 Hz/s. This diagram shall be published by the relay manufacturer. From IEC 60255-181:2019 ed.1.0 "Copyright © 201x IEC Geneva, Switzerland. www.iec.ch"

The graph in Figure 7 describes the performance (start time) of the overfrequency relay, as function of different dynamic behaviours of the power system frequency, that represent different accelerations (or decelerations for underfrequency relays) of the rotors governing the power generation in the electromechanic system.

Similar test methods and graphs shall be reported for underfrequency relays as well, where the frequency decreases with constant rate of changes, instead of increasing.

Megger.

3.3.2. "Frequency jump" tests to assess the start time

This test is very similar to the way many engineers have always performed in the past. What does this test mean⁸? It is understood that for an electromechanical system, where the power system frequency is the result of the rotation of masses... the frequency cannot "jump", but considering a system where the generated frequency is the result of an algorithm that drives static inverters, the answer is YES: frequency can "jump"⁹.

The behaviour of the protection relay when subjected to sudden discontinuous frequency changes can be quite different from the behaviour when the frequency changes continuously and that is the reason why this sudden frequency change test¹⁰ is also considered by the IEC 60255-181.

Figure 8 describes the "frequency jump test" for assessing the start time of one overfrequency relay in that condition.



Figure 8. Example for the measurement of the start time of an overfrequency relay, according to IEC 60255-181, with use of the "frequency jump" test method.

The relay start time could be affected by the size of the frequency jump. Because of that, the IEC 60255-181 requires all frequency protection functions to be tested for a standardized set of frequency "jumps". The results are reported in the standardized format shown in Figure 9; please note that all quantities are just examples:



Figure 9. Example of diagram representing the start time of an overfrequency relay measured at the mandatory frequency "jumps" of 0,2; 0,5; 1,0 and 2,0 Hz/s. This diagram shall be published by the relay manufacturer. From IEC 60255-181:2019 ed.1.0 "Copyright © 201x IEC Geneva, Switzerland. www.iec.ch"

⁸ We should ask ourselves if the power system frequency can instantaneously "jump" from one value (i.e. 50 Hz) to another value (i.e. 52 Hz).

Same question can be asked for a car: "can the speed of a car instantaneously "jump" from for example 100 km/h to 150 km/h?

The answer is no, speed and frequency, in mechanical systems, are continuous quantities. Frequency is associated to the angular velocity of a rotating mass ($\omega = 2 \pi f$), while the speed of a car is a clear concept. An instantaneous change in the speed would mean infinitive force (torque for rotations) applied to it, as the derivative of the speed is the acceleration (F = m a = m dv/dt for linear motion). In electromechanical systems, this is not possible. This is why the new test methods related to the standardized frequency ramp have been defined by IEC, where the frequency of the generated signal is a continuous function.

⁹ SVERKER 900 can simply do it. Every relay test set, not only SVERKER 900, is able to generate a signal with

a certain frequency, and suddenly generate the signal with a completely different frequency. This means that one inverter, for some reasons, may generate voltage with frequency that has discontinuous jumps. For example because of sudden re-synchronisation issues, or simply by wrong control algorithms. In physics, this is known as "zero inertia". In fact, the renewable distributed power generations (solar, wind, battery) based on inverters, are known to have zero inertia [12].

 $^{^{10}\,}$ "Sudden frequency change" is the formal name of this test in IEC 60255-181:2019



As mentioned before, the "sudden frequency change" test is very similar to how many protection relays have been tested in the past for commissioning/routine applications. This can partly explain the different behaviours of frequency protection relays when subject to dynamic power system changes [6]: their behaviour was not assessed for realistic power system changes, but rather for what today's would be called "smart grid applications" (see par. 6.4 for a clarification of this term), where the inertia in the power system is very low (the stored kinetic energy in the rotating masses is very low [12].

There is anyway an important detail in this test, and it is that the injected signal needs be continuous, so there is no step change in its phase angle or magnitude except for its frequency. This condition maybe has not been considered in the tests performed in the past (see Figure 29, page 23, and Figure 30, page 23, for better understanding).

The "sudden frequency change" test has also a great importance for testing the time delay of the frequency relay (see par.4.7).

3.3.3. Operate time (trip time) for frequency relays

The IEC 60255-181 details very much about the definition of the operate time (trip time) for frequency relays, and clarifies a generic confusion in the relay community, not only related to frequency relays).

The operate time of a protection relay is the time interval from when the power system fault starts to when the relay operate contact is activated¹¹. This time includes of course the time delay setting of the protection relay¹²

In few words, there are two possibilities, for relays manufacturers [4], to define their "operate time":

| Relay type | Operate time is equal to |
|------------|--|
| Type 1 | start time + time delay setting |
| Type 2 | start time + (time delay setting – compensation constant). The compensation constant shall be declared by the relay manufacturer ¹³ . |

when the relay issues the start (pick-up) contact.

¹¹ Similarly, the start time of a protection relay is the time interval from when the power system fault starts to when the relay issues the start (nick up) contact

¹² Frequency relays have at least two settings: one is the frequency threshold (frequency level, start level, pick-

up level; for example f>, for overfrequency, and f<, for underfrequency) and the second is a "timed delay" setting, to allow protection selectivity strategies or load shedding [13] strategies based on time grading. This setting is a setting for a timer. There are 2 standardized ways for the behaviour of that timer, and relay manufacturers shall clearly state which is the philosophy adopted.

¹³ These two philosophies are not new in relay protection technique; the IEC standard has simply formalized them and clarified that they need to be declared by the manufacturers, to minimize misunderstandings. Relays of "Type 1" are typically used in high voltage protection applications, while relays of "Type 2" are typically used in medium voltage applications. The denotations "Type 1" and "Type 2" are not used in IEC 60255-181. They are used in this application note for pedagogic purposes.

Relays of "Type 2" usually allow a timer setting only greater than a minimum value. Relays of "Type 1" definitely allow setting the delay time to zero.

In relays of "Type 2", the "compensation constant" is usually equal to the "average start time of the protection function plus the average reaction time of the output contact". It also could just be equal to the "average start time of the protection function", depending on manufacturer's choice. Important is that the manufacturers shall declare the value of the compensation constant (which can be anyway estimated to be close to the minimum allowed setting of the timer)

Relays of "Type 2" can easily show operate times around the setting value (if the timer setting is 200 ms, it is possible to measure an operate time of 140 ms or 260 ms). Relays of "Type 1" instead will always give an operate time higher than the timer setting value, as the start time is always added to the set additional time delay. For the same example, a timer setting of 200 ms, will always give an operate time higher than 200 ms. Probable for frequency relays to be around 260 ... 280 ms.

Megger.

4. Testing ABB RET670 with SVERKER 900.

4.1. Introduction

The following steps are written for an overfrequency relay of "Type 1" (par.3.3.3), the ABB RET670 version 1.2, Figure 10:



Figure 10. ABB Relay RET670

It should be easy to implement the same guidelines for an underfrequency relay.

Hopefully all the paragraphs above (par.3) have been understood. If not, please read the following procedures, try to follow them, and after that please read the par.3.

4.2. About the overfrequency relay under test: ABB RET670.

4.2.1. Relay settings.

The overfrequency relay in RET670 (SAPTOF) has a start level (threshold) of 51,30 Hz, with a time delay of 300 ms (Figure 11).

| | RET670_IED2 - Parameter Set | ting | | | | |
|--------|----------------------------------|----------------|----------------|---------|----------------|-----------------|
| Gro | oup / Parameter Name | IED Value | PC Value | Unit | Min | Max |
| 2.5 | SAPTOF: 1 | | | | | |
| v | Setting Group1 | | Ø | | | |
| V | Operation | On | On | | | |
| V | UBase | 220,00 | 220,00 | kV | 0,05 | 2000,00 |
| v v | StartFrequency TimeDlyOperate | 51,30 0,300 | 51.30 0,300 | Hz s | 35.00 0,000 | 75,00 60,000 |

Figure 11. Settings for the first stage of the overfrequency in ABB RET670 relay (StartFrequency and TimeDlyOperate).



4.2.2. Relay accuracy for frequency measurement.

The accuracy of the frequency measurement of the protection relay is 2 mHz (Figure 12)

Technical data

| Table 234: SAPTOF | echnical data | |
|-------------------------------|------------------|---|
| Function | Range or value | Accuracy |
| Operate value, start function | (35.00-75.00) Hz | ± 2.0 mHz at symmetrical three phase voltage |

Figure 12. Measurement accuracy of the frequency for ABB overfrequency protection, according to RET670 user's manual (Technical Reference Manual) [14].

4.2.3. Relay operate time: "Type 1" or "Type 2"?

The tested ABB RET670 was manufactured before the IEC 60255-181 standard was published in 2019. It is therefore not expectable to have answers to all the declarations that the manufacturer shall provide according to the standard, in the relay manual. For example, it is not clearly specified if the relay timers behave according to "Relay 1" or to "Relay 2" descriptions (see par.3.3.3).

As the time delay setting can be set to 0 ms, it is clear that the relay behaves according to the "Relay 1" concept¹⁴:

The operate time of the relay is given by the start time + set time delay¹⁵.

4.2.4. Relay start time

RET670 manual indicates a typical start time for the overfrequency relay of 100 ms (Figure 13)

Technical data

| Function | Range or value | Accuracy |
|---|--|----------------|
| Operate time, start function | 100 ms typically at $\rm f_{set}$ -0.5 Hz to $\rm f_{set}$ +0.5 Hz | - |
| Operate time, definite time function | (0.000-60.000)s | ± 0.5% ± 10 ms |

Figure 13. Details about start time and timers error for frequency protection in RET670 (Technical Reference Manual) [14].

What the word "typical" means it is not fully clear¹⁶.

We will anyway test the relay with the standardized methods and will draw our conclusions afterwards.

4.3. Connecting SVERKER 900 to the ABB RET670.

The voltage generators of SVERKER 900 are star-connected to the phase voltage inputs of RET670 to generate 3 three phase symmetrical voltages.

Connect the start and operate signals of overfrequency protection in RET670 to SVERKER 900. Figure 14 shows the connections.

¹⁴ A good indicator that the relay is of "type 1" is from the setting range of timer. See in Figure 11 that the timer can be set to zero. Relays of "Type 2" do not allow to set the timer to zero

¹⁵ If RET670 had been tested according to IEC 60255-181, this information would have been clearly stated in the user's manual.

¹⁶ It is reasonable to think that the relay needs some 100 ms to start, or that it typically needs less than 100 ms to start. After having contacted ABB, we know that the start time was actually declared for ramping frequency as the tested ABB RET670 does not "support" applications with frequency jumps.

Megger.



Figure 14. Schematic diagram representing the connections of the 3 voltage generators of SVERKER 900 to ABB protection relay RET670, together with the start and operate signals of the overfrequency protection function.

4.4. Testing the START level of overfrequency relay.

For testing the start level (threshold) of the overfrequency relay, the procedure is simple.

The idea is to generate a "manual frequency ramp", with the minimum step allowed by SVERKER 900. Start to inject nominal voltage(s) with a frequency below the start level, typically 2 or 3 times the tolerance (2 mHz), and **slowly** increase the frequency with the knob, until the relay starts (picks-up). As the typical start time is around 100 ms, wait approximately 5 times this value before increasing the frequency with the knob: at least half second.

Set SVERKER 900 to stop the generation at the activation of binary input 2 (start contact), free contact sensing, as shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15. SVERKER 900 stops the generation on the start (pick-up) contact, which is connected to Binary Input 2, in "free contact sense mode".

Megger.

We will start generating a three phase voltage system of secondary 63,5 V (secondary rated voltage of the relay) at a frequency of 51,30 Hz – 3 x 2 mHz = 51300 mHz – 6 mHz = 51,294 Hz.

The generation from SVERKER 900 starts with the setup shown Figure 16:

| 11 12 13 14 63.50 V 0.0 ° 15 263.50 V 240.0 ° 16 3.50 V 240.0 ° 17 63.50 V 240.0 ° 18 0 vDc BI 0 VDC BI | 合 | Ext Time 0.000 s | r V 0.0 | oltage 000 VAC | Cu 0.00 | rrent 00 AAC | < > |
|--|--------|---------------------|------------|-------------------|------------|--------------------|--------|
| 11 12 13 13 14 63.50 V 0.0 ° 15 240.0 ° 51.294 Hz 13 63.50 V 240.0 ° 14 63.50 V 240.0 ° 15 120.0 ° 51.294 Hz 10 0 VDC BI | OFF+TI | | ИЕ | 123 | 3.45 | | |
| 11 12 13 14 63.50 V 0.0 ° 15 1.294 Hz 13 63.50 V 240.0 ° 13 63.50 V 120.0 ° 13 63.50 V 120.0 ° 13 63.50 V 120.0 ° 14 0 VDC BI | | | | | | | |
| 11 12 13 U1 63.50 V 0.0 ° 51.294 Hz U2 63.50 V 240.0 ° 51.294 Hz U3 63.50 V 120.0 ° 51.294 Hz | | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| 11 12 13 U1 63.50 V 0.0 ° 51.294 Hz U2 63.50 V 240.0 ° 51.294 Hz | U3 6 | 3.50 V | 120.0 ° | 51.294 | Hz | 1 | ~ |
| 11 12 13 U1 63.50 V 0.0 ° 51.294 Hz | U2 6 | 3.50 V | 240.0 ° | 51.294 | Hz | | > |
| 11 12 13 | U1 6 | 53.50 V | 0.0 ° | 51.294 | Hz | | Ň |
| 11 12 | I3 - | | | | | HA | |
| I1 | I2 - | | | | | $\langle \rangle $ | \sim |
| | I1 - | | | | | /U3- | |

Press

Figure 16. Start of the "manual frequency ramp at nominal voltage level, at 51,294 Hz.

Press now solution and select the frequencies for the three voltages (by tapping on them) (Figure 17):



Figure 17. Selecting the frequencies for voltages U1, U2 and U3 and pressing "HOLD".

The frequency is incremented by the knob rotation. Slowly rotate the knob (1 mHz at a time), waiting for at least 0,5 seconds from one step to the next step. The test will be stopped when the relay activates its start contact.

The relay starts (picks-up) at exactly 51,3 Hz, as Figure 18 shows, and the test is stopped:

| I 1 | | | | | /U3- | |
|------------|------------|---------|-------------------|--------------|-----------------|--------------|
| I2 | | | | | \wedge | 502 |
| I 3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | <mark>51.3</mark> | 00 Hz | | $\geq >$ |
| U2 | 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | <mark>51.3</mark> | 00 Hz | | |
| U3 | 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | <mark>51.3</mark> | 00 Hz | ~ | - |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI HOLD 1 |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI HOLD 1 |
| OFF+ | TIME ON+T | IME | | 123.45 | 0 VDC | BI HOLD 1 |
| OFF+ | TIME ON+TI | IME | Voltage | 123.45 CL | 0 VDC TRIP H | BI HOLD 1 |

Figure 18. Start (pick-up) of overfrequency protection. The start threshold has been detected

Press now and see the test results, that can be saved in the report, if you want (Figure 19).

| Hz 3 | U2: V 63.50 | ° 240.0 | | Hz 51.300 | U3: V 63.50 | ° 120.0 | 51.3 | Hz 600 | BI 2 |
|---------|----------------|--------------------|---------|--------------|------------------|------------|-------------------|-----------|---------|
| • | | | | | | | | | Þ |
| 2 | Conden | sed | | I | ⊠ Show r | atio | | √ | |
| G | 5 | Ext Tim 0.000 s | er s | Vc 0.0 | oltage 00 VAC | 0.0 | urrent 000 AAC | | ≯ |

Figure 19. Test results after stopping the test

Megger.

The test was repeated several times, and the measurement is confirmed.

4.4.1. Conclusions for the start level.

The relay threshold has been tested to be 51,3 Hz. The setting is 51,3 Hz. Error is 0 mHz and the given accuracy is 2 mHz. The test is passed¹⁷.

¹⁷ With such small tolerance of the relay, it is a good practice to measure this threshold 5 times and report the average value of this measurement.

Megger.

4.5. Testing the start time of overfrequency relay with standardized frequency ramp.

4.5.1. Introduction.

IEC 60255-181 requires to perform the test of the start time with 4 different frequency ramps (par.3.3.1). For commissioning/maintenance, it is reasonable to choose only one or two of the possible ramps; for example the two central ramps (1 Hz/s and 2 Hz/s).

In this application note we will test all the 4 frequency ramps¹⁸.

The frequency ramp is setup in the Ramp tool of SVERKER 900, in paragraphs 4.5.2, 4.5.3 and 4.5.4.

4.5.2. Pre-fault values.

The pre-fault value is the power system nominal frequency (50 Hz in our example), and it shall be injected for at least 1 second¹⁹.

Figure 20 shows the pre-fault value of 1 second, at power system nominal frequency of 50 Hz^{20} and rated secondary voltage of 63,5 V.



Figure 20. Pre-fault values for the standardized frequency ramp in SVERKER 900

4.5.3. Setup the frequency ramp of 0,5 Hz/s.

The relay will be tested with the standardized frequency ramp of 0,5 Hz/s. Just write 0,5 Hz/s in the ramp conditions (Figure 21),

¹⁸ Commissioning/maintenance tests are a small sub-set of the type tests [15]. Common sense suggests avoiding over-testing for commissioning/maintenance. Considering that the IEC 60255-181 is a new standard, it is expected to see more than strictly necessary tests for frequency protections. When the standard will be better known, the number of tests will probably be reduced. We are following this idea by testing all the 4 ramps, as there is a certain "curiosity" in understanding the relay behaviour. Also a statistical approach is described in many of IEC 60255-1xx relay protection series, and it is worth to get used to this approach [3].

¹⁹ The pre-fault condition is meant to let the protection relay to stabilize the frequency measurement, before the

power system fault occurs (the frequency ramp starts). If in doubt on how long to set the pre-fault, set it to 5 seconds. So far, no protection relays have been observed to need more than 5 seconds to stabilize the frequency measurement.

²⁰ For 60 Hz power systems, it will be 60 Hz. Note that that for these tests, the frequency ramp shall always start at the nominal power system frequency (per IEC 60255-181)

Megger.

| I1 | | | | | | |
|------------|-----------|------------------|-------|-----------|---------------|------------|
| 12 | | | | |]/~~~ | >> |
| I 3 | | | | |][| |
| U1 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆° /s | s 0.5 | 500 ΔHz/s | 1 V-<>-4 | >>1 |
| U2 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆°/ s | s 0.5 | 500 ΔHz/s | | |
| U3 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆°/ s | s 0.5 | 500 ΔHz/s | 1 | 777 |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| _ | | | / | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | Ext Time | er | R Ohr | n z | 0 VDC STOI | BI PPED |

Figure 21. Setting the ramp values of 0,5 Hz/s in SVERKER 900

4.5.4. Setup the final point of the frequency ramp.

The final point of the frequency ramp is set to 2 Hz above the relay setting of the start value. The final value will be 51,3 Hz + 2 Hz = 53,3 Hz, as shown in Figure 22.



Figure 22. Setting the final state of the frequency ramp to 2 Hz above the relay setting for the start level (53,3 Hz).

4.5.5. Run the ramp and measure the start time from SVERKER 900.



Figure 23. Initial situation right before starting the ramp.

The ramp is stopped when the start contact has activated, as shown in Figure 24. SVERKER 900 reports the duration of the ramp, from when it started to when it was stopped.

Megger.

63.50 V 0.0 ° 51.347 Hz 63.50 V 240.0 9 51.350 Hz 63.50 V 120.0 9 51.348 Hz $[\mathbf{T}]$ 0 VDC BI TRIP[1] 2.688 s - Ohm Ext Timer R --- Ohm Z 0.305 s X --- Ohm ø ---

SVERKER 900 reported a ramp duration of 2,688 s (2688 ms).

Figure 24. Final situation shown by SVERKER 900 after relay start activation.

Remove from this result, the time that SVERKER 900 needed to go from 50 Hz to the relay setting, 51,3 Hz. This time is 2,6 seconds and needs to be manually calculated, with this formula:

 $Start Time (s) = SVERKER 900 Time (s) - \frac{(Relay setting start f (Hz) - Nominal f (Hz))}{Frequency Ramp Speed \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)}$

That can be simplified into:

Start Time (s) = SVERKER 900 Time (s) - K (s)

Where the variable K is calculated by;

 $K(s) = \frac{\left(Relay \ setting \ start \ f \ (Hz) - Nominal \ f \ (Hz)\right)}{Frequency \ Ramp \ Speed \ \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)}$

With the following data:

SVERKER 900 Time = 2,688 s (See Figure 24) Relay setting start = 51,3 Hz Nominal f = 50 Hz (the beginning of the frequency ramp, always equal to the nominal frequency) Frequency Ramp Speed = 0.5 Hz/s

The variable K is:

$$K(s) = \frac{\left(\text{Relay setting start } f(Hz) - \text{Nominal } f(Hz)\right)}{\text{Frequency Ramp Speed } \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)} = \frac{(51,3 \text{ Hz} - 50 \text{ Hz})}{0,5 \text{ Hz/s}} = 2,6s = 2600 \text{ ms}$$

and the start time:

Start Time (s) = 2688 (ms) - 2600 ms = 88 msFigure 25 shows graphically the numbers just calculated.



Figure 25. Graphical representation of the calculated values with SVERKER 900.

Megger.

By performing the same test 5 times, we get the following results from SVERKER 900:

| Test Nr. 0,5 Hz/s ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 | К | Relay Start time |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|---------|------------------|
| 1 | 2688 ms | 2600 ms | 88 ms |
| 2 | 2688 ms | 2600 ms | 88 ms |
| 3 | 2685 ms | 2600 ms | 85 ms |
| 4 | 2688 ms | 2600 ms | 88 ms |
| 5 | 2690 ms | 2600 ms | 90 ms |
| AVERAGE | 2687,8 ms → 2688 ms | | 87,8 ms → 88 ms |

4.5.6. Testing the start time of overfrequency for the other 3 frequency ramps.

The test performed for the frequency ramp of 0,5 Hz/s have been repeated for all the other 3 ramps (1,0 Hz/s, 2,0 Hz/s and 5,0 Hz/s) as indicated in par 3.3.1 and as it was done in par.4.5.2 to 4.5.5:

| Test Nr. 1 Hz/s ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 | к | Relay Start time |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|---------|------------------|
| 1 | 1388 ms | 1300 ms | 88 ms |
| 2 | 1386 ms | 1300 ms | 86 ms |
| 3 | 1382 ms | 1300 ms | 82 ms |
| 4 | 1384 ms | 1300 ms | 84 ms |
| 5 | 1386 ms | 1300 ms | 86 ms |
| AVERAGE | 1385,2 ms → 1385 ms | | 85,2 ms → 85 ms |

| Test Nr. 2 Hz/s ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 | К | Relay Start time |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------|------------------|
| 1 | 733 ms | 650 ms | 83 ms |
| 2 | 739 ms | 650 ms | 89 ms |
| 3 | 741 ms | 650 ms | 91 ms |
| 4 | 734 ms | 650 ms | 84 ms |

Megger.

| 5 | 737 ms | 650 ms | 87 ms |
|---------|-------------------|--------|----------------------------|
| AVERAGE | 736,8 ms → 737 ms | | 86,8 ms → 87 ms |

| Test Nr. 5 Hz/s ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 | К | Relay Start time |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------|----------------------------|
| 1 | 347 ms | 260 ms | 87 ms |
| 2 | 344 ms | 260 ms | 84 ms |
| 3 | 344 ms | 260 ms | 84 ms |
| 4 | 344 ms | 260 ms | 84 ms |
| 5 | 350 ms | 260 ms | 90 ms |
| AVERAGE | 345,8 ms → 346 ms | | 85,8 ms → 86 ms |

4.5.7. Summary of relay start time for all 4 frequency ramps.

All the results are reported in the following table:

| Ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 (average on 5 tests) | к | Relay Start time (average on 5 tests) |
|----------|---|---------|--|
| 0,5 Hz/s | 2688 ms | 2600 ms | 88 ms |
| 1,0 Hz/s | 1385 ms | 1300 ms | 85 ms |
| 2,0 Hz/s | 737 ms | 650 ms | 87 ms |
| 5,0 Hz/s | 346 ms | 260 ms | 86 ms |

4.5.8. Conclusions for start time with standard frequency ramps

As mentioned previously, for commissioning/maintenance tests it is probably enough to test only some of the frequency ramps (for example 1,0 Hz/s and 2,0 Hz/s), especially if data according to IEC 60255-181 in the relay manual are given, so that results can be immediately verified. As no data according to IEC 60255-181 are given for this relay, as it was manufactured before this standard existed, we have performed tests for all the ramps to better understand the relay from IEC 60255-181 point of view, and to add more information that can help the reader.

Note also that since this relay is a "Type 1" relay (par.4.2.3), it would have been possible to test the start time by stopping the SVERKER 900 with the operate contact, by setting the delay time in the relay to 0 ms.

The relay manual informs about a typical start time of 100 ms (par.4.2.4).

We have measured a start time of approximately 90 ms, using all the 4 standardized frequency ramps.

The start time that we have measured is compatible with the given 100 ms and we declare the test passed.

Megger.

4.6. Testing the start time of overfrequency relay with standardized "frequency jump".

4.6.1. Introduction

The test with the sudden frequency change is relatively easy, but one thing is important: the test must not introduce any phase shift (par.3.3.2). For this we need to use some phase shift corrections for the phase voltages in the fault in the "pre-fault and fault test" from SVERKER 900 (later on in this application note –par.5.6- we will describe a simplified method, useful especially when data from the relay, with reference to IEC 60255-181 are given or when the relay behaviour is more or less already known).

The phase angle correction, for one second pre-fault (at the nominal frequency) is given by the formula:

$$PHI_{correction}(^{\circ}) = (f_{nom} - f_{fault}) (Hz) \times 360 (^{\circ})$$

Where

fnom is the nominal frequency at the pre-fault

 f_{fault} is the fault frequency; it depends on the relay setting and on the level of the "frequency jump" requested by the test.

Please note that the formula above is ONLY valid for a pre-fault duration of 1 second.

If we want to consider all the 4 "frequency jumps" requested by the standard we can have this table, for the overfrequency relay setting of 51,3 Hz:

| "Frequency Jump" above relay setting | Fault Frequency | PHI_correction for fault voltages |
|---|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| 0,2 Hz | 51,3 Hz + 0,2 Hz = 51,5 Hz | - 1,5 * 360 = -180 deg |
| 0,5 Hz | 51,3 Hz + 0,5 Hz = 51,8 Hz | - 1,8 * 360 = -288 deg = 72 deg |
| 1 Hz | 51,3 Hz + 1 Hz = 52,3 Hz | - 2,3 * 360 = -108 deg = 252 deg |
| 2 Hz | 51,3 Hz + 2 Hz = 53,3 Hz | - 3,3 * 360 = -108 deg = 252 deg |

The test for a "frequency jump" test of 0,5 Hz is shown below. All other cases are then repeated in the same way and the results are summarized in a table.

4.6.2. Pre-fault values

Set the pre-fault values in the pre-fault and fault instrument of SVERKER 900. Note that the pre-fault values have to be the nominal power system frequency (50 Hz or 60 Hz).

Be careful and set the pre-fault values to be 1 second long (par.4.6.1) as shown in Figure 26.

| I1 | | | | U3 | |
|--------|-------------|-------------------|-----------|-------|------------------------|
| I2 | | | | | 1881 |
| I3 | | | | | |
| U1 | 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | 50.000 Hz | | $\mathbb{P} \otimes J$ |
| U2 | 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | 50.000 Hz |] 🌾 | |
| U3 | 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | 50.000 Hz | | [77 |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Prefau | lt: 1000 ms | | | | BI |
| Prefau | lt: 1000 ms | <u>]</u> ⊅\∿+∿ | / | 0 VDC | BI DPPED |

Figure 26. Pre-fault values for the standardized frequency "jump" in SVERKER 900. Set the duration of the pre-fault to 1 second so you can use the values calculated in 4.6.1 for the correction for the phase angles for the fault



4.6.3. Fault values

Set the fault values, considering the phase correction that was calculated for the frequency jump of 0,5 Hz (fault frequency = 51,8 Hz), as in Figure 27

| I1 - | | | | | | Ui |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------|------------|---------|----------|---------|
| I2 - | | | | | 1485 | 1/>/ |
| I3 - | | | | | U3 | |
| U1 6 | 53.50 V | 72.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | 600 | |
| U2 6 | 53.50 V | 312.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | |
| U3 6 | 53.50 V | 192.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | 1 | িশ |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Max: 10 | 000 ms | Off Delay: 0 r | ns | | TRIP[1] | 0.183 s |
| $^{\sim}$ | ∕+(| ウ_∿+ヘ | / | | | |
| 合 | Ext Time 0.305 s | r R X | Ohm Ohm | z- ø | Ohm ∘ | < > |

Figure 27. Fault values for the standardized frequency "jump" of 0,5 Hz in SVERKER 900. Note the phase angle correction calculated in 4.6.1.

4.6.4. Run the test and measure the start time from SVERKER 900.

Presse 4×10^{10} and then run the test by pressing 10^{10} , the result is clearly shown in Figure 28.

| I1 | | | | | | Ui |
|-----------|----------|----------------|------------|----|----------|---------|
| I2 | | | | | 122 | 1 > 1 |
| I3 | | | | | U3 | |
| U1 (| 63.50 V | 72.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | 1000 | |
| U2 (| 63.50 V | 312.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | |
| U3 (| 63.50 V | 192.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | 1 | িস |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Max: 1 | 000 ms | Off Delay: 0 n | าร | | TRIP[1] | 0.183 s |
| $^{\sim}$ | ∕+(| Ď <u>∿+∿</u> C | / | | | |
| 合 | Ext Time | r R | Ohm Ohm | z- | Ohm ∘ | < > |

Figure 28. Start time (pick-up time) result for a standardized frequency jump of 0,5 Hz.

By performing the same test 5 times, we get the following results from SVERKER 900:

| Test Nr. 0,5 Hz Jump | Result from SVERKER 900 |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 183 ms |
| 2 | 190 ms |
| 3 | 185 ms |
| 4 | 178 ms |
| 5 | 183 ms |
| AVERAGE | 183,8 ms → 184 ms |

Figure 29 shows that the injected voltages are continuous, if injected with the correct phase correction:

Megger.



Figure 29. Note the voltages are fully continuous when the frequency changes from pre-fault to fault, which is somewhere around 190 ms from the start signal. The two cursors show approximately 225 ms from when the start signal triggered.

The same test, performed without phase angle correction, shows the discontinuity at the instant of the frequency jump (Figure 30):



Figure 30. Note the voltages are discontinuous (phase shift jump) when the frequency changes from pre-fault to fault, which is exactly the discontinuity at approx. 190 ms from the start signal. The two cursors show approximately 225 ms from when the start signal triggered.

Megger.

4.6.5. Testing the start time of overfrequency for the other 3 frequency jumps.

The test performed for the frequency jump of 0,5 Hz have been repeated for all the other 3 jumps (0,2 Hz, 1,0 Hz/s and 2,0 Hz) as indicated in par.3.3.2 and as it was done in par.4.6.2 to 4.6.4:

| Test Nr. 0,2 Hz jump | Result from SVERKER 900 |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 181 ms |
| 2 | 190 ms |
| 3 | 183 ms |
| 4 | 189 ms |
| 5 | 181 ms |
| AVERAGE | 184,8 ms → 185 ms |

| Test Nr. 1 Hz jump | Result from SVERKER 900 |
|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 185 ms |
| 2 | 186 ms |
| 3 | 189 ms |
| 4 | 185 ms |
| 5 | 179 ms |
| AVERAGE | 184,8 ms → 185 ms |

| Test Nr. 2 Hz jump | Result from SVERKER 900 |
|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 183 ms |
| 2 | 185 ms |
| 3 | 182 ms |
| 4 | 182 ms |
| 5 | 180 ms |
| AVERAGE | 182,4 ms → 182 ms |

4.6.6. Summary of relay start time for all 4 frequency jumps.

All the results are reported in the following table:

| Jump | Result from SVERKER 900 (average on 5 tests) |
|--------|---|
| 0,2 Hz | 185 ms |
| 0,5 Hz | 184 ms |
| 1,0 Hz | 185 ms |
| 2,0 Hz | 182 ms |



4.6.7. Conclusions for start time with standard frequency jumps

As previously mentioned, for commissioning/maintenance tests it is probably enough to test only some of the frequency jumps (for example 0,5 Hz and 1,0 Hz), especially if data according to IEC 60255-181 in the relay manual are given, so that results can be immediately verified. As no data according to IEC 60255-181 are given for this relay, as it was manufactured before the standdard was published, we have performed tests for all the jumps to better understand the relay from IEC 60255-181 point of view, and to add more information that can help the reader.

Note also that since this relay is a "Type 1" relay (par.4.2.3), it would have been possible to test the start time by stopping the SVERKER 900 with the operate contact, by setting the delay time in the relay to 0 ms.

The relay manual informs about a typical start time of 100 ms (par.4.2.4). We have measured a start time of approximately 185 ms, using all the 4 standardized frequency jump methods.

The start time that we have measured is away from what ABB declares (185 ms against 100 ms).

We have contacted ABB and the interesting reply is in par. 4.8.

4.7. Testing the operate time of the overfrequency relay.

4.7.1. Introduction

The best way to test the operate time of the overfrequency relay without interpreting too much the IEC standard, is to measure the time distance between the start (pick-up) signal and the operate (trip) signal. This is the measurement of the "relay time delay".

As the relay is of "Type 1", this time is then added to the start time that was measured in the previous paragraphs by using two clear and well-defined testing methodologies²¹, to get the operate time (par.3.3.3).

For this test it is not important to create any type of realistic test condition, as the simple functionality (and eventually accuracy, if wished²²) of the overfrequency relay internal timer is measured.

As consequence of this concept, the simplest test that is able to cause the protection function to start (pick-up) and operate (trip) can be used²³.

With SVERKER 900 we will use the pre-fault and fault sequence, where only the frequency changes from the nominal value (or any other value below the threshold, if really wished) to a value well above the threshold to be 100% sure the relay operates (for example, 1 Hz above the threshold). The phase angle will not be corrected, so the test will create a phase shift when the frequency changes.

The time difference between start and operate signals is measured by using the extra timer available in SVERKER 900. The Extra Timer is set to start with activation of the start (pick-up) contact, and to stop by activation of the operate (trip) contact.

4.7.2. Connections

Figure 31 shows the connections to the SVERKER 900.

²¹ based on the application: where there is a prevalence of rotating masses (inertia), the standardized ramps will be considered, where there is prevalence of static generation, smart grid (very low inertia), the sudden frequency change will be considered.

²² The accuracy of digital timers is today so high, that there is no practical need to measure it in commissioning/maintenance tests, unless the test results are suspicious and deeper investigations are required

²³ IEC 60255-181 requires using the sudden change frequency test (par.3.3.2), which introduces the complexity

of correcting the phase angles to make sure the generated voltages are continuous. Once the intention of this test is understood, it is non-controversial to provide a test with a frequency jump where the phase angles are not corrected at all. This has impact (eventually) on the start time, but we are not measuring the start time, we are measuring the time difference between the activation of the start and operate signals.

Megger.



Figure 31. Schematic diagram representing the connections of the 3 voltage generators of SVERKER 900 to ABB overfrequency protection relay in RET670. The start signal is connected to the "START BI" of the Extra Timer. The operate signals is connected to the "STOP BI" of the Extra Timer.

Figure 32 show the settings for starting and stopping the Extra Timer of SVERKER 900:



Figure 32.Settings for the Extra Timer to be started on activation of start signal of the relay and to be stopped on activation of operate signal of the relay.

4.7.3. Setting pre-fault and fault values

The pre-fault value is chosen to be 50 Hz frequency, nominal rated voltage of the RET 670, for one second. Fault frequency is chosen to be 1 Hz over the frequency threshold (51,3 Hz), and to underline that there is no need to be exact on this value, 52 Hz will be chosen.

Note that there are no corrections on the phase angles between pre-fault and fault, which means that the injected voltages will not be continuous (Figure 33) and will be similar to what shown in Figure 30 page 23.

Megger.

| | - | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|------------------|----------------------|---------|---|----------|----------------------|--------------|-------------|-----------|-------------------|----------|
| 11 | | | 13 No | | 11 | | | | | /J3~ | |
| I2 | | | | | I2 | | | | | $/ \times \times$ | ~ 1 |
| I3 | | | |) | I3 | | | | | H | |
| U1 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | 50.000 Hz | | 1 | U1 63. | 50 V | 0.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | | \sim |
| U2 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | 50.000 Hz | | | U2 63. | 50 V 🛛 | 240.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | | \sim |
| U3 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | 50.000 Hz | 12 | | U3 63. | 50 V | 120.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | 1 | [] |
| | | | | 1 | | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Prefault: 1000 ms | | | STOPPED | | Max: 100 |) ms C | Off Delay: 0 | ms | | STO | PPED |
| \sim \sim + | Ō\^+^ | \checkmark | | | \sim | √+ ¢ | Ď ∿+^ | / | | | |
| Ext Tim 0.000 | er Vol s 0.00 | tage Cu 0 VAC 0.0 | 00 AAC | | | Ext Timer 0.000 s | Volt | age)VAC | Cu 0.0 | rrent 00 AAC | < > |

Figure 33.Pre-fault and fault settings for measuring the internal relay delay time.

4.7.4. Test execution and results

By tapping on 4×4 and then on 4×4 , the test will start. The test result is given by the value of the Extra Timer (Figure 34).

| I1 | | | | | ∕ [™] | |
|----------|----------|-----------------|--------|------|----------------|----------------------------|
| I2 | | | | | \mathbb{N} | \mathbb{R}^{1} |
| I3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | | $\mathbb{P}^{\mathcal{A}}$ |
| U2 | 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | | |
| U3 | 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | 52.000 | Hz | | িস |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Max: 1 | .000 ms | | STO | PPED | | |
| \wedge | , ∖/+(| Ď <u>∕, +</u> ∧ | J | | | |
| | Ext Time | r Volt | age | Cu | rrent | |

Figure 34.Test result is shown by the Extra Timer (303 ms).

This test has been repeated 5 times and the test results are available in the following table, where also the average value is calculated:

| Test Nr. | Result from Extra Timer (Time difference between Start and Operate) | Error from 300 ms |
|----------|--|-------------------|
| 1 | 306 ms | 6 ms |
| 2 | 303 ms | 3 ms |
| 3 | 306 ms | 6 ms |
| 4 | 306 ms | 6 ms |
| 5 | 303 ms | 3 ms |
| Average | 304,8 ms | 4,8 ms |

4.7.5. Conclusions for delay operate time

ABB RET 670 declares a timer error of +/- 0,5% of setting value +/- 10 ms (par.4.2.4). This means an error of: 0,5% (300 ms) +/- 10 ms = +/-1,5 ms +/-10 ms = +/- 11,5 ms

Considering that this measurement is conditioned by the variation of the response time of the contacts, and considering this variation to be of the order of 1 ms, our measurement shows that the protection relay timer is well inside the accuracy declaration, and the test is passed.



4.8. Conclusions for RET670 relay.

The overfrequency relay in RET670 has a start time of approximately 90 ms for conventional applications (test with standardized frequency ramps) and a start time of approximately 185 ms for "smart grid" applications (tests with sudden frequency jump).

For the operate time, we need to add the time delay to the start time and get the final table, which gives a clear description of the protection function.

| Application | RET670 Start Time | RET670 Operate time (time delay setting 300 ms) |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Rotating masses, inertia | Approx. 90 ms (par.4.5.7) | Approx. 390 ms |
| Static generation, no inertia | Approx. 185 ms (par.4.6.6) | Approx. 485 ms |

4.8.1. Explanations from Hitachi ABB Power Grids

We have contacted the relay manufacturer (par. 7.2) for having an explanation about the results of our tests and here the interesting reply:

For the start time/operate time at frequency jumps:

Frequency shall not jump in the traditional power system. If this happens in the invertor based system this might mean actually a fault (inverters do strange staff then), islanding etc and is not an event for which the frequency relay shall react except if this condition do not persist for a longer time.

In Hitachi ABB Power Grids opinion, the frequency is a statistical quantity. It cannot be calculated instantaneously; otherwise, the relay would possibly react even during CB switching in the power system, which can have disastrous consequences, especially during more complex conditions in the power system, such is for example an under-frequency load-shedding event, when multiple/many CBs will open throughout the network in relatively short time[13]. Therefore, appropriate measures have been done in the relay algorithm, which ensure that the frequency function reacts in accordance with regulation and requirements, existing at the beginning of this millennium when the relay was designed. Consequently the start time as given in this document are observed during testing.

For the relay documentation according to IEC 60255-181:2019:

Hitachi ABB has performed the type tests of their frequency relays according to the IEC standard and the future version of protection IEDs will have the performance declarations according to the requirements of IEC 60255-181.

Megger.

5. Simplified testing of RET670 with SVERKER 900.

5.1. Introduction.

The following paragraphs are difficult to understand without that the previous par.3 and par.4 are understood.

One time in the life, please make sure you have gone through them. Later on, feel confident to use this simplified test method.

In this method we will not use the start (pick-up) signal of the relay, but only the operate (trip) signal²⁴.

5.2. About the overfrequency relay under test: ABB RET670.

The overfrequency relay is the same relay (RET670) we tested in par.4, and also the settings are the same.

Additionally to the settings, repeated here for convenience (see par.4.2.1):

- f_start = 51,3 Hz
- Timer = Definite time = 300 ms

we know that the relay is of "Type 1" (see par.3.3.3 and par.4.2.3). This means that the settable delay time of 300 ms has to be added to the relay start time to get the operate time.

The relay start time is approximately 90 ms (from par.4.5.8) for tests with "frequency ramp" and it is of approximately 185 ms (from par.4.6.7) for tests with "frequency jump".

The relay operate time has to be reasonably expected as:

- Approx. 90 ms + 300 ms = approx. 390 ms for tests with "frequency ramp"
- Approx. 185 ms + 300 ms = approx. 485 ms for tests with "frequency jump"

5.3. Connecting SVERKER 900 to the ABB RET670.

The voltage generators of SVERKER 900 are star-connected to the phase voltage inputs of RET670 to generate 3 three phase symmetrical voltages.

Connect the operate signal of overfrequency protection in RET670 to SVERKER 900. Figure 35 shows the connections.

²⁴ Be aware that the start signal is a very important signal for frequency and frequency related protections (ROCOF), as it is often used to block some other protection relays or start some load shedding logics. You should consider "strange" that the start signal is not available for testing.

Megger.



Figure 35. Schematic diagram representing the connections of the 3 voltage generators of SVERKER 900 to ABB protection relay RET670. Only the operate (trip) signal of the overfrequency protection function is connected to SVERKER 900.

5.4. Testing the Start level of overfrequency relay.

The idea is to generate a "manual frequency ramp", with the minimum step allowed by SVERKER 900. Start to inject nominal voltage(s) with a frequency below the start level, typically 2 or 3 times the tolerance (2 mHz), and **slowly** increase the frequency with the knob, until the relay operates (trips). As the expected operate time of the relay is not more than 500 ms (par.5.2), wait approximately 2 or 3 times this value before increasing the frequency with the knob: between one or 2 seconds.

Set SVERKER 900 to stop the generation at the activation of binary input 1 (operate contact), free contact sensing, as in Figure 36.



Figure 36. SVERKER 900 stops the generation on the operate (trip) contact, which is connected to Binary Input 1.

Megger.

We will start generating a three phase voltage system of secondary 63,5 V (secondary rated voltage of the relay) at a frequency reasonably far away from the tripping level of 51,30 Hz. In general every frequency relay has a tolerance better than 20 mHz, so starting 50 mHz away is a safe margin.: 51300 mHz – 50 mHz = 51250 mHz = 51,25 Hz²⁵

The generation from SVERKER 900 starts with the setup shown in Figure 37.



D

Press

Figure 37. Start of the "manual frequency ramp at nominal voltage level, at 51,250 Hz.

Press now solution and select the frequencies for the three voltages (by tapping on them) (Figure 38):

| I1 | | | | | | |
|------------|------------|---------|----------|-------------------|--------------|---------|
| I2 | | | | / | \mathbb{N} | $\gg 1$ |
| I 3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | 51.250 H | <mark>اz</mark> ۱ | | >>1 |
| U2 | 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | 51.250 H | lz | N. | > |
| U3 | 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | 51.250 H | lz | 7 | 5 |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | HOL | .D 1 |
| | | | | | | - |
| OFF+ | TIME ON+TI | ME | 123.4 | | | |
| | Test Time | r Volt | 229 | Curr | ent 👘 | 1 1 1 |
| | Extime | 4 VOIU | age | Curr | CIIC | |

Figure 38. Selecting the frequencies for voltages U1, U2 and U3 and pressing "HOLD".

The frequency is incremented by the knob rotation. Slowly rotate the knob (1 mHz at a time), waiting between 1 and 2 seconds from one step to the next step. The test is stopped when the relay activates the operate contact.

The relay operates (trips) at exactly 51,3 Hz, as Figure 39 shows:

²⁵ If the relay trips at the first generation, start a little bit more far away.



Figure 39. Operate (trip) of overfrequency protection. The threshold has been detected.

Megger.

Press now and see the test results, that can be saved in the report, if you want (Figure 40).

| Hz U2:∖ 63.50 | / 0 240.0 | 51 | Hz U .300 63 | 3:∨ 3.50 1 | ° 20.0 | 51.30 | Hz BI 00 1 |
|-------------------------|-------------------|-----|-----------------|---------------|-----------|-------|---------------|
| ✓ I Conc | lensed Ext Tir | ner | I⊠ S Voltag | Show rat | tio | rrent | |

Figure 40. Test results after stopping the test

The test was repeated several times, and the measurement is confirmed.

5.4.1. Conclusions for start level

The relay threshold has been tested to be 51,3 Hz. The setting is 51,3 Hz. Error is 0 mHz and the given accuracy is 2 mHz. The test is passed²⁶.

²⁶ With such small tolerance of the relay, it may be good practice to measure this threshold 5 times and report the average value of this measurement.

Megger.

5.5. Testing the operate time of overfrequency relay with standardized frequency ramp.

5.5.1. Introduction.

Unless we have indications for using a special frequency ramp, we will use the standardized ramp of 1 Hz/s. Indications for using other ramps can be given by the presence of ROCOF relay. Look at the settings of the ROCOF relay and stay below that setting to avoid ROCOF to operate²⁷.

The frequency ramp is setup in the Ramp tool of SVERKER 900, in paragraphs 5.5.2, 5.5.3 and 5.5.4.

5.5.2. Pre-fault values.

The pre-fault value is the power system nominal frequency (50 Hz in our example), and it shall be injected for at least 1 second²⁸.

Figure 41 shows the pre-fault value of 1 second, at power system nominal frequency of 50 Hz^{29} and rated secondary voltage of 63,5 V.



Figure 41. Pre-fault values for the standardized frequency ramp in SVERKER 900

5.5.3. Setup the frequency ramp of 1,0 Hz/s.

The relay will be tested with the standardized frequency ramp of 1,0 Hz/s. Just write 1,0 Hz/s in the ramp conditions (Figure 42),

²⁷ ROCOF operates on the frequency rate of change, and not on the frequency [9]

²⁸ The pre-fault condition is meant to let the protection relay to stabilize the frequency measurement, before the power system fault occurs (the frequency ramp starts). If in doubt on how long to set the pre-fault, set it to 5 seconds. So far, no protection relays have been observed to need more than 5 seconds to stabilize the

frequency measurement. ²⁹ For 60 Hz power systems, it will be 60 Hz. Note that for these tests, the frequency ramp shall always start at the nominal power system frequency (per IEC 60255-181)

Megger.

| I1 | | | | | | |
|------------|-----------|------------------|---------|-------|--|-------|
| I2 | | | | | | \gg |
| I 3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆°/ s | 1.000 / | ∆Hz/s | $V \!$ | >> |
| U2 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆°/ s | 1.000 / | ∆Hz/s | | > |
| U3 | 0.00 ∆V/s | 0.0 ∆°/ s | 1.000 / | ∆Hz/s | | ٦٣ |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | - | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | Ext Time | er Vo | ltage | C. | 0 VDC STOP | BI |

Figure 42. Setting the ramp values of 1,0 Hz/s in SVERKER 900

5.5.4. Setup the final point of the frequency ramp.

The final point of the ramp can be tricky, because the ramp now will stop when the relay trips and not when the relay starts. Set the ramp at the highest setting value the relay allows. It is very probable that the relay can well measure the frequency at that value (and even more of course, but we do not need to be exact here). RET670 allows a setting of 75 Hz (par.4.2.1).

The final point of the frequency ramp is set to 75 Hz³⁰, as shown in Figure 43.

| I1 | | | | | | |
|------|---------------------|------------|--------------------|------------|-----------------|--------------|
| I2 | | | | | $h \approx$ | $\sim $ |
| I3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | | | 75.000 | Hz | $\sim /$ | \mathbb{N} |
| U2 - | | | 75.000 | Hz | | |
| U3 | | | 75.000 | Hz | | <u>ি</u> শ |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| | | | | | STO | PPED |
| | | | | / | | |
| 合 | Ext Time 0.303 s | r V 0.1 | 'oltage 000 VAC | Cu 0.00 | rrent 00 AAC | < > |

Figure 43. Setting the final state of the frequency ramp to 75 Hz.

5.5.5. Run the test and measure the operate (trip) time from SVERKER 900.

By tapping on _____ and then on _____, the test will start (Figure 44):

³⁰ In case the relay will not trip for any reason (wrong connections for example), the ramp will stop at 75 Hz. So

we do not risk to "Inject" into the relay frequencies that the relay is not able to measure correctly. As said, RET670 will of course measure correctly higher frequencies than 75 Hz, but we are not searching for the limit. We just want a comfortable frequency to stop without risking that the relay measures wrongly (with risk of causing false trips or starts)

11 ---- ---- 12 ---- ---- 13 ---- ---- U1 63.50 V 0.0 ° U2 63.50 V 240.0 ° 50.000 Hz U3 63.50 V 120.0 ° 50.000 Hz Ext Timer Voltage Current 0.303 s 0.000 VAC 0.000 AAC

Figure 44. Initial situation right after the ramp started. The timer "Trip" is counting.

Megger.

The ramp stops when the trip contact activates, as shown in Figure 45. SVERKER 900 reports the duration of the ramp, from when it started to when it was stopped.

I3 111 U1 63.50 V 0.0 ° 51.701 Hz U2 63.50 V 240.0 51.698 Hz 120.0 ° U3 63.50 V 51.704 Hz BI 0 VDC TRIP[1] 1.691 s Ext Time Voltage Current Ē 0.303 s 0.000 VAC 0.000 AAC

SVERKER 900 reported a ramp duration of 1,691 s (1691 ms).

Figure 45. Final situation shown by SVERKER 900 as consequence of the relay trip.

Remove from this result, the time that SVERKER 900 needed to go from 50 Hz to the relay setting, 51,3 Hz. This time is 1,3 seconds and needs to be manually calculated, with this formula:

$$Operate Time (s) = SVERKER 900 Time (s) - \frac{(Relay setting start f (Hz) - Nominal f (Hz))}{Frequency Ramp Speed \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)}$$

That can be simplified into:

Operate Time (s) = SVERKER 900 Time (s) - K (s)

Where the variable K is calculated by;

$$K(s) = \frac{\left(Relay \ setting \ start \ f \ (Hz) - Nominal \ f \ (Hz)\right)}{Frequency \ Ramp \ Speed \ \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)}$$

With the following data::

SVERKER 900 Time = 1,691 s (See Figure 45) Relay setting start = 51,3 Hz Nominal f = 50 Hz (the beginning of the frequency ramp, always equal to the nominal frequency) Frequency Ramp Speed = 1,0 Hz/s

The variable K is:

Megger.

 $K(s) = \frac{\left(\text{Relay setting start } f(Hz) - \text{Nominal } f(Hz)\right)}{\text{Frequency Ramp Speed } \left(\frac{Hz}{s}\right)} = \frac{(51,3 \text{ Hz} - 50 \text{ Hz})}{1,0 \text{ Hz/s}} = 1,3s = 1300 \text{ ms}$

And the start time:

Operate Time (s) = 1691 (ms) - 1300 ms = 391 ms

Figure 46 shows graphically the numbers just calculated.



Figure 46. Graphical representation of the calculated values with SVERKER 900.

By performing the same test 5 times we get the following results from SVERKER 900:

| Test Nr. 1,0 Hz/s ramp | Result from SVERKER 900 | к | RET670 Operate (trip) time |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|---------|-------------------------------|
| 1 | 1691 ms | 1300 ms | 391 ms |
| 2 | 1690 ms | 1300 ms | 390 ms |
| 3 | 1690 ms | 1300 ms | 390 ms |
| 4 | 1688 ms | 1300 ms | 392 ms |
| 5 | 1687 ms | 1300 ms | 394 ms |
| AVERAGE | 1689,2 ms → 1689 ms | | 389,2 ms → 389 ms |

5.5.6. Conclusions for operate time with standardized frequency ramps

We have measured an operate time of approximately 390 ms, which is in line with what we expected (par.5.2)

The operate time that we have measured is reasonable and we declare the test passed.

Megger.

5.6. Testing the operate time of overfrequency relay with "frequency jump".

5.6.1. Introduction

Even if the IEC 60255-181 standard requires the frequency jump to have a continuous waveform (which means consider a phase correction for the jump), we will "risk" and will not create that condition, to have the test simpler and faster. The voltage waveforms will be discontinuous or, better said, we create a phase shift when we do the frequency jump (see Figure 29 and Figure 30 for better understanding).

If we get results far away from the expected results, we will redo the test without phase shift (see par.4.6.1) because maybe the relay start time (and operate time as consequence) is affected by the phase shift.

The test for a "frequency jump" of 0,5 Hz is chosen. We know (par.5.2) that the expected operate time should be approximately 490 ms.

5.6.2. Pre-fault values

Set the pre-fault values in the pre-fault and fault instrument of SVERKER 900. Note that the pre-fault values have to be the nominal power system frequency (50 Hz or 60 Hz).

Set the pre-fault values to be 1 second long or more (Figure 47):



Figure 47. Pre-fault values for the frequency "jump" in SVERKER 900. Set the duration of the pre-fault to 1 second (or more).

5.6.3. Fault values

Set the fault values, (fault frequency = 51,8 Hz), as in Figure 48. Keep the same phase angles as for the pre-fault (no phase shift correction).

| I1 | | | | | (JJ3 | |
|------------------------------|----------|---------|--------|-----|----------------|------|
| I2 | | | | | \mathbb{N} | 227 |
| I3 - | | | | | $H(-\bigcirc)$ | |
| U1 (| 53.50 V | 0.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | >>/ |
| U2 € | 53.50 V | 240.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | > |
| U3 6 | 53.50 V | 120.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | [77] |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Max: 1000 ms Off Delay: 0 ms | | | | STO | PPED | |
| <u> </u> | | | | | | |
| | Ext Time | r V | oltage | C., | rrent | |

Figure 48. Fault values for the frequency "jump" of 0,5 Hz in SVERKER 900.

5.6.4. Run the test and measure the operate time from SVERKER 900.

Press 4 and then run the test by pressing 4, the result is clearly shown in Figure 49.

Megger.

| I1 | | | | | U3 | |
|--|----------|---------|--------------|-----|--------------------|--------------|
| I2 | | | | | $/ \wedge \rangle$ | 58A |
| I3 | | | | | | |
| U1 | 63.50 V | 0.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | \mathbb{N} |
| U2 | 63.50 V | 240.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | |
| U3 | 63.50 V | 120.0 ° | 51.800 | Hz | | িশ |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 0 VDC | BI |
| Max: 1000 ms Off Delay: 0 ms TRIP[1] 0.496 s | | | | | | |
| \land | , ∕/+(| ⊅∿+∕ | \checkmark | | | |
| \square | Ext Time | r Vo | tage | Cu | irrent | |
| | 0 202 a | 0.00 | O VAC | 0.0 | 00 AAC | |

Figure 49. Operate time (trip time) result for a frequency jump of 0,5 Hz.

By performing the same test 5 times, we get the following results from SVERKER 900:

| Test Nr. 0,5 Hz Jump | Result from SVERKER 900 |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 496 ms |
| 2 | 487 ms |
| 3 | 489 ms |
| 4 | 489 ms |
| 5 | 490 ms |
| AVERAGE | 490,2 ms → 490 ms |

5.6.5. Conclusions for operate time with frequency jumps

We have measured a trip time of approximately 490 ms. This is in line with what we know from the previous tests (more rigorous tests, par.4.5, 4.6 and 4.7) but not according to what the manual declares.

The manual declares a start time of typically 100 ms. 300 ms of time delay + 100 ms of "start time" would make 400 ms, and we have measured 490 ms, confirming the tests done.

We have contacted ABB and the interesting reply is in par.5.7

We have also seen that the operate time (and as well the start time) in ABB RET670 are not affected by the phase shift, when performing frequency jump tests, because the operate time measured with the simplified tests is in accordance to the operate time calculated with the more rigorous tests (start time + time delay settings, see par.4.6.7, 4.7.5 and 4.8).

5.7. Conclusions for simplified tests RET670.

The overfrequency relay in RET670 has an operate time of approximately 390 ms for conventional applications (test with standardized frequency ramp), and an operate time of approximately 490 ms for "smart grid" applications (tests with sudden frequency jump), as shown in the table below:

| Application | RET670 Operate time (for a time delay setting 300 ms) |
|-------------------------------|--|
| Rotating masses, inertia | Approx. 390 ms |
| Static generation, no inertia | Approx. 490 ms |

We have not measured the "start time", but we know that the relay is of "Type 1", so the start time can be obtained by removing the setting value of the time delay (300 ms) from the operate time, getting the following measurements:

Megger.

| Application | RET670 Start time |
|-------------------------------|-------------------|
| Rotating masses, inertia | Approx. 90 ms |
| Static generation, no inertia | Approx. 190 ms |

Confirming the measurements obtained in a more rigorous way, in par.4.8.

5.7.1. Explanations from Hitachi ABB Power Grids

We have contacted the relay manufacturer (par. 7.2) for having an explanation about the results of our tests and here the interesting reply:

For the start time/operate time at frequency jumps:

Frequency shall not jump in the traditional power system. If this happens in the invertor based system this might mean actually a fault (inverters do strange staff then), islanding etc and is not an event for which the frequency relay shall react except if this condition do not persist for a longer time.

In Hitachi ABB Power Grids opinion, the frequency is a statistical quantity. It cannot be calculated instantaneously; otherwise, the relay would possibly react even during CB switching in the power system, which can have disastrous consequences, especially during more complex conditions in the power system, such is for example an under-frequency load-shedding event, when multiple/many CBs will open throughout the network in relatively short time[13]. Therefore, appropriate measures have been done in the relay algorithm, which ensure that the frequency function reacts in accordance with regulation and requirements, existing at the beginning of this millennium when the relay was designed. Consequently the start time as given in this document are observed during testing.

For the relay documentation according to IEC 60255-181:2019:

Hitachi ABB Power Grids has performed the type tests of their frequency relays according to the IEC standard and the future version of protection IEDs will have the performance declarations according to the requirements of IEC 60255-181.

Megger.

6. Conclusions.

6.1. Two test approaches: one "conservative", one "simplified"

In this application note, we have followed different approaches. In par.4 we have followed testing methods very close to the descriptions and definitions of IEC 60255-181 standard ("conservative"). The number of tests performed compared to the standard is still simplified; for example the relay is only tested with the actual setting and not for all the setting range, which is typical of type testing, but the definitions of start time, setting of the time delay and operate time are kept. Nevertheless, the relay under tests were produced before the IEC 60255-181 standard was published, so the relay manuals do not obviously give information related to the standard. As the relays were somehow "unknown" from IEC 60255-181 point of view, we spent more time in testing many details.

The tests also required the use of both start contact and trip contact from the relays.

In par.5 we have followed a simplified procedure. In this method, the definitions of start time, setting of delay for the operate time and operate time are also kept, but merged together in the operate time. It is recommended to follow this simplified procedure when the "relay behaviour" is more or less known. Possibly after having done the tests according to par.4 (if the relay under test is produced before the standard was published), or when the relay is tested according to IEC 60255-181, because many information are available on its behaviour already from the user's manual, similar to what described in par.5.2.

Comparing the results from par.4 and 5, we have also seen that the phase shift at frequency jump tests seems to not have impact on the start/operate times of the ABB RET670. It is good to know how the test should be formally carried (par.3.3.2) in case such relays are encountered in the future.

6.2. One shot is not enough

Even with the risk to be pedantic, "one shot is not enough". Repeating the tests 5 times, gives an idea of the spread of the values, and helps to be comfortable with the test results.

When test results are Ok, 5 "shots" are usually enough. If it is necessary to show/report that something is wrong, at least 10 shots are recommended.

IEC 60255-1xx uses a statistical approach in many relay performances and relay manufacturers will follow this concept the more they will follow IEC 60255-1xx standards [3]

6.3. I have always tested with the "frequency jump". What should I do now?

In the commissioning and maintenance tests of the past, frequency relays have been tested with a sort of "sudden frequency jump method". "Sort of" because the jump level is usually unclear, and eventually the phase shift generated in the jump is also unclear.

When approaching the same relay again, it can be recommended to ask to the plant/relay owner if the relay has always behaved correctly in the past. If the answer is yes, perform the test in the same way as it was done before. If the answer is "doubtful", maybe there have been some unwanted operations.

In agreement with the relay owner, perform the tests in the same way it was done in the past (in order to confirm the same behaviour of the relay for that test), and additionally perform the test according to the IEC 60255-181 by using the standardized frequency ramp. If strange behaviour is detected, it is worth to have a look to that relay ... will the relay behave correctly in case of an eventual frequency dynamic scenario with similar rate of change (Hz/s) of what was tested?

If the test results are not adequate for the application, it is recommended to not blame the relay manufacturer, nor the customer that has bought it and installed many years ago. The competence on frequency related protection functions has grown with the experience of the last years, especially when more smart grid applications have been implemented. The relay was with any probability designed before the IEC 60255-181 standard was published. Accept the situation and start the procedures to replace it with another relay that better performs dynamically, if unwanted operations cannot be tolerated.



If you feel you have problems in explaining the IEC 60255-181 standard to your customer or colleagues, feel free to contact Megger, we are always available, as IEC members, to give explanations to anybody interested in standardisation topics.

6.4. About "smart grid applications

In this document, there is many times the reference to "smart grid applications". Especially associated to frequency jump tests. Hitachi ABB Power Grids correctly reacted on that and asked for a more rigorous explanation, with this comment:

Please note that the "frequency jump test" is not a "smart grid test". It is just a strange test when a single inverter change frequency what can happen in a quite small system, but it cannot be said that it is representative for a smart grid system. A smart grid system may have situations that are more complex, for example, when several inverters in the system do their own frequency jump as they are "pleased". What should do a frequency relay in these situations?

The above comment is fully correct. Frankly speaking we do not know today what really means "smart grid applications", in the given context. We do not know yet what it is required to the relay to do when and if those "frequency jumps" will occur. We only know that they can occur and that it is important to describe the relay behaviour for those situations as well.

In the IEC standard 60255-181:2019 there is no reference to smart grid applications (even if in the beginning there was). The tests with frequency jumps are referred as (Figure 50):

Such tests represent a power system condition that changes its frequency with a certain speed, a typical condition in a power system having electromechanical inertia.

The upper limit of this condition is the "frequency jump", which may occur in an environment, where the power generation is predominantly carried by static inverters. In this condition the power system frequency can suddenly change from one initial nominal value to the final value, above or below the protection setting respectively for overfrequency and underfrequency functions,

Figure 50. Extract from IEC 60255-181:2019, the description of the "Frequency jump tests". Smart Grid application is not mentioned, but the reference to it is clear. From IEC 60255-181:2019 ed.1.0 "Copyright © 201x IEC Geneva, Switzerland. www.iec.ch"

We have preferred to keep the simplification "smart grid applications" in the document and have a clarification note here. One important message of the standard is that not only the classical protection relays need to follow the standard (as the two relays we have tested here), but also embedded frequency functions in inverters or other equipment that are often part of a distributed generation system (smart grids) must follow this standard, of course with the necessary interpretations. I also know that "smart grid applications" was the main topic that has driven the publication of this standard, so with the risk to simplify too much, I think the link to smart grid should remain.

7. Acknowledgments

7.1. IEC

The author Andrea Bonetti thanks the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) for permission to reproduce Information from its International Standards. All such extracts are copyright of IEC, Geneva, Switzerland. All rights reserved. Further information on the IEC is available from www.iec.ch. IEC has no responsibility for the placement and context in which the extracts and contents are reproduced by the author, nor is IEC in any way responsible for the other content or accuracy therein.

7.2. Former ABB (Hitachi ABB Power Grids from 2020-07-01)

Thanks to Zoran Gajic, from Hitachi ABB Power Grids in Västerås, Sweden, for having commented our test results on ABB RET670.

Zoran Gajic is Senior Application Engineer at Hitachi ABB Power Grids, Grid Automation Products in Vasteras, Sweden. He received his MSEE degree with honours from the University of Belgrade, Serbia in 1990 and PhD degree in electrical engineering from Lund University, Sweden



in 2008. Since 1993 he has been working in the area of power system protection and control within ABB Group of companies, where he had various engineering positions. From 2008 to 2015 he was ABB Global Product Manager for Generator and Transformer Protection. He has published many technical papers in the relay protection area and holds more than fifteen patents. Zoran has participated in different CIGRE, IEC and PSRC/IEEE working groups and was the Convenor for CIGRE Working Group "Modern techniques for Protecting Busbars in HV Networks". In 2014 he received Technical Committee Award from Cigré Study Committee B5 (Protection and Automation).

Zoran is member of IEC TC 95/MT 4 (par.2).

8. About the authors

8.1. Andrea Bonetti

Andrea is senior specialist in relay protection and IEC 61850 applications at Megger Sweden AB.

Andrea is active member of IEC:

- IEC TC 95/MT 4. Measuring relays and protection equipment Functional standards
- IEC TC 95/WG 2. Protection functions with Digital Input / Output.
- IEC TC JWG 17. Documentation of communication in power utility automation

https://www.linkedin.com/in/bonetti-andrea/

8.2. Lennart Schottenius

Lennart Schottenius is senior technical support specialist for relay test equipment and tools at Megger Sweden AB

8.3. Stefan Larsson

Stefan Larsson is product manager for relay test equipment and tools at Megger Sweden AB

9. Revisions.

9.1. Revision 1.

This is the first revision of the application note.



10. References

- [1] A. Bonetti, 'New protection standards for all', *SMART ENERGY INTERNATIONAL*, p. 6,7, Mar. 2019.
- [2] A. Bonetti, 'New IEC protection standards for all Network Magazine', https://networks.online/, Jul. 2019. https://networks.online/technology-operations/new-iec-protection-standards-for-all/ (accessed Jun. 16, 2020).
- [3] A. Bonetti, M. V. V. S. Yalla, and S. Holst, 'The IEC 60255-121:2014 standard and its impact on performance specification, testing and evaluation of distance protection relays', in 2016 IEEE/PES Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition (T D), May 2016, pp. 1– 6, doi: 10.1109/TDC.2016.7520031.
- [4] 'IEC 60255-181:2019 | IEC Webstore'. https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/30962 (accessed Jun. 17, 2020).
- [5] A. Bonetti, K. Spitzenberg, S. Larsson, and L. Schottenius, 'Neue IEC-Norm für Frequenzgradienten- und Frequenzschutz vom Februar 2019.', *Netzpraxis*, p. 32,35, Apr. 2020.
- [6] E. Kilander and N. Modig, 'Frekvensderivataskydd för kraftsystemet', KTH, Royal Institute of Technology, 2014.
- [7] S. Xue, B. Kasztenny, I. Voloh, and D. Oyenuga, '(3) (PDF) Power System Frequency Measurement for Frequency Relaying', *ResearchGate*, Oct. 2007. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321255243_Power_System_Frequency_Measurem ent_for_Frequency_Relaying (accessed Jul. 14, 2020).
- [8] A. Bonetti, 'Electrical Tester Testing ROCOF Protection'. May 2020, Accessed: Jun. 16, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://uk.megger.com/electrical-tester/may-2020/testing-rocof-protection.
- [9] A. Bonetti, S. Larsson, and L. Schottenius, 'Testing ROCOF with SVERKER 900 applying the new IEC 60255-181 standard'. Megger Sweden AB, Accessed: Jun. 16, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.pet/publication/333133426 Testing ROCOF with SVERKER 90

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333133426_Testing_ROCOF_with_SVERKER_90 0_applying_the_new_IEC_60255-181_standard.

- [10] F. Iliceto, Impianti elettrici Volume 1. Bologna, IT: Pàtron, 1984.
- [11] Anderson, Power System Control and Stability, 2nd ed. Piscataway, NJ: Wiley-IEEE Press.
- [12] L. Caciolli, 'AEIT-TAA-2012-12-21-L'impatto delle Rinnovabili sul sistema elettrico', Dec. 2012. http://www.aeit-taa.org/Documenti/AEIT-TAA-2012-12-21-Terna-Caciolli-Impatto-FER-su-Sist-Elet.pdf (accessed Jun. 26, 2020).
- [13] D. Andersson, P. Elmersson, A. Juntti, Z. Gajic, D. Karlsson, and L. Fabiano, 'Intelligent load shedding to counteract power system instability', in 2004 IEEE/PES Transmision and Distribution Conference and Exposition: Latin America (IEEE Cat. No. 04EX956), Nov. 2004, pp. 570–574, doi: 10.1109/TDC.2004.1432442.
 [14] 'IMRK504113-UEN C en Technical Reference Manual RET670 1.2', Scribd, 2012.
- [14] 1MRK504113-UEN C en Technical Reference Manual RET670 1.2', Scribd, 2012. https://www.scribd.com/document/153068904/1MRK504113-UEN-C-en-Technical-Reference-Manual-RET670-1-2 (accessed Jul. 07, 2020).
- [15] A. Bonetti, N. Ignatovski, and S. Fernandez, 'Providing an IEC 61850 Counterpart of the Trusty Multimeter - Approaching the Maintenance Procedures for IEC 61850 Substations', in 2019 1st Global Power, Energy and Communication Conference (GPECOM), Jun. 2019, pp. 440– 444, doi: 10.1109/GPECOM.2019.8778541.